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The above-described material was removed from this file
pursuant to the following exemption provided in the Freedom of
Information Act, 5 U.S.C. Section 552(b):

(1) Classified Information (6) Personal privacy

(2) Internal rules and (7) Investigatory
practices ° files

\s&
(3) Exempted by otherﬁLOﬁqﬁﬂﬂ (8) Banking Information
statute J :
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(4) Trade secrets and (9) Well Information

commercial or (geographic or
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

MUR 1458
Committee to Elect
Douglas H. Bosco

CERTIFICATION

I, Marjorie W. Emmons, Secretary of the Federal

Election Commission, do hereby certify that on May 31,

1§83, the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take

the following actions in MUR 1458:

1. Accept the proposed conciliation
agreements as settlement of this
MUR as attached to the General
Counsel's May 25, 1983 Memorandum
to the Commission.

2. Close the file.

Commissioners Aikens, Elliott, Harris, McDonald, McGarry

and Reiche voted affirmatively in this matter.

Attest:

ol [ Ao e

L v

Date #oL Marjorie W. Emmons
Secretary of the Commission

Received in Office of Commission Secretary: 5-25-83, 2:31
Circulated on 48 hour tally basis: 5-26-83, 11:00




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

June 2, 1983

K. Randall Kenworthy, Esquire
Clement, Fitzpatrick and Kenworthy
3333 Mendocino Avenue

P.O. Box 1494

Santa Rosa, California 95402

RE: MUR 1458
Dear Mr. Kenworthy:

On May 31, 1983, the Commission accepted the conciliation
agreements signed by you and civil penalties in settlement of
violations of 2 U.S.C. §§ 434 and 441b, provisions of the Federal
Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended. Accordingly, the file
has been closed in this matter, and it will become a part of the
public record within thirty days. However, 2 U.S.C.

§ 437g(a) (4) (B) prohibits any information derived in connection
with any conciliation attempt from becoming public without the
written consent of the respondent and the Commission. Should you
wish any such information to become part of the public record,
please advise us in writing.

Enclosed you will find fully executed copies of the final
conciliation agreements for your files.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steel

Associate General Counsel

Enclosure
Conciliation agreements - two




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D C. 20463

K. Randall Kenworthy, Esquire
Clement, Fitzpatrick and Kenworthy
3333 Mendocino Avenue

P.O. Box 1494

Santa Rosa, California 95402

RE: MUR 1458
Dear Mr. Kenworthy:

On May 31, 1983, the Commission accepted the conciliation
agreements signed by you and civil penalties in settlement of
violations of 2 U.S.C. §§ 434 and 441b, provisions of the Federal
Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended. Accordingly, the file
has been closed in this matter, and it will become a part of the
public record within thirty days. However, 2 U.S.C.

§ 437g(a) (4) (B) prohibits any information derived in connection
with any conciliation attempt from becoming public without the
written consent of the respondent and the Commission. Should you
wish any such information to become part of the public record,
please advise us in writing.

Enclosed you will find fully executed copies of the final
conciliation agreements for your files.
Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel

Enclosure
Conciliation agreements - two




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C 20463

June 2, 1983

Mr. Don Emerson
16761 Forest Lake Drive
Cobb, California 95426

MUR 1458

Dear Mr. Emerson:

This is in reference to the complaint you filed with the
Commission on July 30, 1982, concerning the Bosco for Congress
Commi ttee.

After conducting an investigation in this matter, the
Commission determined there was probable cause to believe that:
(a) the Bosco for Congress Committee violated 2 U.S.C.

§ 434(b) (3) and 11 C.F.R. § 104.13; (b) the Bosco for Congress
Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b and 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(b); and
(c) the Committee to Elect Douglas H. Bosco violated 2 U.S.C.

§ 441b and 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(b), provisions of the Federal
Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended. On May 31, 1983,
conciliation agreements signed by the respondents were accepted
by the Commission, thereby concluding the matter. Copies of
these agreements are enclosed for your information.

The file number in this matter is MUR 1458. If you have any
guestions, please contact Suzanne Callahan, the staff member
assigned to this matter, at (202) 523-4529.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele

Associate General Counsel

Enclosure
Conciliation Agreements




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D C 20463

Mr. Don Emerson
16761 Forest Lake Drive
Cobb, California 95426

MUR 1458

Dear Mr. Emerson:

This is in reference to the complaint you filed with the
Commission on July 30, 1982, concerning the Bosco for Congress
Committee.

After conducting an investigation in this matter, the
Commission determined there was probable cause to believe that:
(a) the Bosco for Congress Committee violated 2 U.S.C.

§ 434(b) (3) and 11 C.F.R. § 104.13; (b) the Bosco for Congress
Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b and 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(b); and
(c) the Committee to Elect Douglas H. Bosco violated 2 U.S.C.

§ 441b and 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(b), provisions of the Federal
Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended. On May 31, 1983,
conciliation agreements signed by the respondents were accepted
by the Commission, thereby concluding the matter. Copies of
these agreements are enclosed for your information.

The file number in this matter is MUR 1458. If you have any
guestions, please contact Suzanne Callahan, the staff member
assigned to this matter, at (202) 523-4529.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel

Enclosure
Conciliation Agreements
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of
MUR 1458

Committee to Elect
Douglas H. Bosco

CONCILIATION AGREEMENT

This matter was initiated by a signed, sworn, and notarized
complaint by Don Emerson. Probable cause has been found to
believe that the Committee to Elect Douglas H. Bosco
("Respondent”) violated 2 U.S.C. Section 441b (11 C.F.R. Section
114.2(b)) as to one, but not the remainder, of the allegations in
the complaint, as more particularly hereinafter set forth:

NOW, THEREFORE, the Commission and Respondent, having duly
entered into conciliation pursuant to 2 U.S.C. Section
437g(a)(4)(A)(i) do hereby agree as follows:

I. The Commission has jurisdiction over the Respondent,
and the subject matter of this proceeding.

JeTte Respondent has received notice and had opportunity to
respond and to be heard in this proceeding in accordance with 2
U.S.C section 437g(a).

III. Respondent enters voluntarily into this Agreement with
the Commission.

Iv. The pertinent facts in this matter are as follows:

1. Respondent, the Committee to Elect Douglas H.
Bosco, was the state campaign committee for

Assemblyman Bosco.




Respondent conducted a poll on February 22, 23,
and 24, 1982, prior to Douglas Bosco becoming a
candidate for Congress, which, in part, tested
Douglas Bosco's name recognition and as such was
useful in determining whether he would
subsequently become a candidate for Congress. The
poll also covered other matters in connection with
Douglas Bosco's official capacity as a California
Assemblyman and unrelated to the subsequent

federal election.

;.a

The total cost of the poll was $3,000.00 and was

3

paid from the Respondent's treasury which

contained corporate and union funds.

07

The portion of the cost allocable to the

subsequent federal campaign of Douglas Bosco is
$600.00.
v. Respondent's expenditure of the $600.00 on behalf of
federal candidate from commingled funds is a violation of 2

U.S.C. Section 441b.
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VI. Respondent will pay a civil penalty to the Treasurer
of the United States in the amount of Two Hundred Fifty Dollars
($250), pursuant to 2 U.S.C. Section 437g(a)(5)(A).

VIiI. Respondent agrees that it shall not undertake any
activity which is in violation of the Federal Election Campaign
Act of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C. Section 431, et. seq.

VIII. The Commission, on request of anyone filing a

complaint under 2 U.S.C. Section 437g(a)(l) concerning the




matters at issue herein or on its own motion, may review
compliance with this agreement. If the Commission believes that
any of the requirements or provisions contained in paragraphs VI
and X of this agreement have been violated, it may institute a
civil action for relief in the United States District Court for
the District of Columbia.

IX. This agreement shall become effective as of the date
that all parties hereto have executed same and the Commission has
approved the entire agreement.

X Respondent shall have no more than thirty (30) days
from the date this agreement becomes effective to pay the civil
penalty set forth in paragraph VI. of this agreement and to so
notify the Commission.

CHARLES N. STEELE

Associate General Couhsel

COMMITTEE TO ELECT
DOUGLAS H. BOSCO

By:

Its: (’Quu\.&/




BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of
MUR 1458
Bosco for Congress
Committee

CONCILIATION AGREEMENT

This matter was initiated by a signed, sworn, and notarized

complaint by Don Emerson. Probable cause has been found to

believe that the Bosco for Congress Committee ("Respondent")

violated 2 U.S.C. Section 441b (11 C.F.R. Section 114.2(b) and 2
U.S.C. Section 434(b)(3) (11 C.F.R. Section 104.13)) as to some
but not all of the allegations in the complaint as more
particularly hereinafter set forth.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Commission and Respondent, having duly
entered into conciliation pursuant to 2 U.S.C. Section
437g(a)(4)(A)(i) do hereby agree as follows:

I. The Commission has jurisdiction over the Respondent,
and the subject matter of this proceeding.

II. Respondent has received notice and had opportunity to
respond and to be heard in this proceeding in accordance with 2
U.S5.C Section 437g(a).

III. Respondent enters voluntarily into this Agreement with
the Commission.

IV. The pertinent facts in this matter are as follows:
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Respondent, the Bosco for Congress Committee,
was the principal campaign committee for Douglas
H. Bosco's Congressional campaign.

The Committee to Elect Douglas H. Bosco, a

California state committee formed in connection

~with Bosco's campaign and office as a California

state assemblyman, conducted a poll on February
22, 23, and 24, 1982, prior to Douglas Bosco
becoming a candidate for Congress, which, in part,
tested Douglas Bosco's name recognition and as
such was useful in determining whether he would
subsequently become a candidate for Congress. The
poll also covered other matters in connection with
Douglas Bosco's official capacity as a California
Assemblyman and unrelated to the subsequent
federal election.

The total cost of the poll was $3,000.00 and was
paid from the state committee's treasury which
contained corporate and union funds.

The portion of the cost allocable to the
subsequent federal campaign of Douglas Bosco is
$600.00 and when Bosco subsequently became a
candidate for Congress, a portion of the
previously conducted poll then became an in-kind
contribution in that amount.

At the time the poll was taken, the Respondent

committee did not exist. When the Respondent
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committee was later formed, it reported
contributions which it received but failed to
report a portion of the previously taken poll as
an in-kind contribution.

V. Respondent's failure to report a portion of the
previously taken poll as an in-kind contribution is a violation
of 2 U.S.C. Section 434(b)(3) (11 C.F.R.1 Section 1104-13).

VI. Respondent for purposes of this agreement and the
facts set forth above, does not contest that the receipt of the
in-kind contribution in the nature of a portion of the previously
conducted poll, is a violation of 2 U.S.C. Section 441b (11
C.F.R. Section 114.2(b)).

VII. Respondent will pay a civil penalty to the Treasurer
of the United States in the amount of Two Hundred Fifty Dollars
($250), pursuant to 2 U.S.C. Section 437g(a)(5)(A).

VIII. Respondent agrees that it shall not undertake any

activity which is in violation of the Federal Election Campaign

Act of 1971, as amended, 2 U.S.C. Section 431, et. seq.

EX{e The Commission, on request of anyone filing a
complaint under 2 U.S.C. Section 437g(a)(1l) concerning the
matters at issue herein or on its own motion, may review
compliance with this agreement. If the Commission believes that
any of the requirements or provisions contained in paragraphs
VII. and XI. of this agreement have been violated, it may
institute a civil action for relief in the United States District

Court for the District of Columbia.
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X. This agreement shall become effective as of the date

that all parties hereto have executed same and the Commission has
approved the entire agreement.

XI. Respondent shall have no more than thirty (30) days
from the date this agreement becomes effective to pay the civil
penalty set forth in paragraph VII. of this agreement and to so
notify the Commission.

CHARLES N. STEELE
General Counsel

KENNETH A. GROSS
Associate General Counsel

BOSCO FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE

By:

Its: Q“.__E..,f




December 8, 1982

-

MEMORANDUM TO: Marjorie Fmmons
FROM: Steven BArndollar

SUBJECT: MUR 1458

Please have the attached Memo and Brief distributed

to the Commission on an informational basis. Thank you.

Attachment
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

December 8, 1982

MEMORANDUM

TO : The Commission

FROM Charles N. Stee
General Counse

SUBJECT: MUR 1458

Attached for the Commission's review is a brief stating the
position of the General Counsel on the legal and factual issues of
the above-captioned matter. A copy of this brief and a notifying
the Respondent of the General Counsel's intent to recommend to
the Commission findings of no probable cause to believe on certain
violations and probable cause to believe on others was mailed on
December 8 » 1982. Following receipt of the Respondent's reply
to this notice, this Office will make a further report to the
Commission.

Attachments
Brief (1) (6 pages)
Respondent's Reply (13 pages)
Letter to Respondent (1) (2 pages)
(15 numbered pages attached to Brief)




BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of
Bosco for Congress MUR 1458
Committee

- Committee to Elect
Douglas H. Bosco

GENERAL COUNSEL'S BRIEF

I Statement of the Case -

This matter was generated as the result of a complaint filed
by Don Emerson against the Bosco for Congress Committee ("the
Congressional Committee”) and the Committee to Elect Douglas Bosco
("the State Committee"). The complaint alleges that certain

expenditures made by the State Committee were actually made on

07 14

behalf of Douglas Bosco's congressional bid and should have been

repgorted accordingly.
On September 29, 1982, the Commission found reason to

believe that the following violations had been committed: (a) a

<
()
T
(@

violation of 2 U.S.C. § 434(b) (3) (11 C.F.R. § 104.13) in that

the congressional committee failed to report receipt of in-kind

8 3

contributions from the State Committee; (b) a violation of

2 U.5.C. § 441b (11 C.F.R. § 114.2(b)) in that the state's
contributions were made from commingled corporate funds; and,
(c) a violation of 2 U.S.C., § 433(a) and § 434 in that the State
Committee failed to register and file reports of receipts and

expenditures.
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II. Legal Analysis

The complainant alleged that over $7,000 in State Committee
payments made for travel, lodging, polling and telephone services
were made in connection with a federal election. The respondent
has provided an explanation refuting each charge separately as
discussed below.

Telephone Charge:

The office space at 1207 Fourth Street, Santa Rosa, is used
as headquarters by the Congressional Committee and also houses
the Santa Rosa Democratic Club, as well as literature and
campaign materials for local democratic candidates; in addition,
the Sonoma County Democratic Central Committee also uses the
premises.

The $526 payment by the State Committee to the Congressional
Committee represents payment made for use of the phones solely by
the Democratic Central Committee for a voter registration drive
lasting six months.

When the Congressional Committee began using the premises,
they had additional lines installed for congressional use at
their own expense for a total operational cost of $3,500. The
respondent maintains that the cost allocable to the State
Committee probably exceeds the $526 initial payment made by it.
The respondent believes the allocation is a reasonable one by the
federal committee because the State Committee merely paid for
installation of some lines yet used the phones for six months.

This Office concurs with counsel's position.
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Travel and Lodging Expenses:

The complainant alleged that over $7,000 paid for travel and
lodging by the State Committee were in connection with Bosco's
federal campaign. The respondent has submitted Bosco's travel
itinerary during the relevant period showing dates, places,
people, purpose of each appearance, etc. The response indicates
that the expenditures were ptope}ly incurred by and paid for by
the State Committee since Bosco's appearances were in connection
with his State Assemblyman position. According to counsel, Bosco
did not actively campaign in the primary except for a single
event which was duly paid for by the Congressional Committee. His
state appearances, which are the subject of this matter, included
Caucus business, a State Speaker dinner, party appearances and
speeches before special interest groups.

Counsel asserts that while Bosco kept a full speaking
schedule in connection with his position as Chairman of the
Assembly Democratic Caucus, he never campaigned for his
Congressional bid at these appearances nor did he criticize his
opponent. We believe that the itemized appearances by Bosco,
although overlapping with his Congressional district, could be
deemed to be primarily in connection with his state position and
any benefit to his congressional campaign were incidental and are
excluded from reportable campaign activities under 11 C.F.R.

§ 106.3(b)¢30) .




Polling Cost:

The complainant alleges that a poll conducted in 1982, paid
for by the State Committee, should have been paid by the Federal
Committee since its primary purpose was testing the waters.

Pursuant to 11 C.F.R. § 100.8(b) (1):

Funds received and payments made solely
for the purpose of determining whether an
individual should become a candidate are not
expenditures. Activities permissible under
this exemption include, but are not limited
to, expenses incurred for: conducting a
poll, telephone calls and travel, to
determine whether an individual should become
a candidate. The individual shall keep
records of all such funds received and
payments made. If the individual
subsequently becomes a candidate, the funds
received and payments made are contributions
and expenditures subject to the limitations,
prohibitions and requirements of the Act.
Suchi contributions and expenditures must be
reported with the first report filed by the
principal campaign committee of the
candidate, regardless of the date the funds
were received or the payments made.

In his initial response to the complaint, counsel replied to
this allegation by stating that the poll was "taken to determine
public opinion on a variety of issues and also included
popularity ratings of a number of public officials including
Assemblyman Bosco, Senator Keene, Speaker Willie Brown, Senator
Kennedy, Congressman Clausen and Governor Brown." Counsel stated

that Bosco had taken other such polls in the past to ascertain

constituency opinions on a number of issues.

In response to the Commission's reason to believe

notification, counsel submitted a copy of the poll at issue here.
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He stated that his client was attempting to locate past polls
taken by him as well as other public officials.

According to counsel, the poll was taken at a time when
Mr. Bosco did not plan to run for Congress regardless of the
results of the poll. Counsel submits that only a portion of the
fifty responses called for in the poll can be considered testing
the waters. The other questions'are in connection with Bosco's
Assemblyman position.

The Office of General Counsel has reviewed the poll and
finds that certain questions would clearly be an aid to an
individual's test of popularity and name recognition.

Pursuant to 11 C.F.R. § 106.4(e) (4), allocation of polling

expenses may be computed by any method which reasonably reflects

the benefit derived. If a certain percentage of the fifty

gquestions are deemed to be federal expenditures, then a portion
of the total cost of the poll is an in-kind contribution from the
State Committee to the Federal Committee. 1In this case, we
concur with counsel's position that approximately 20% of the poll
may be considered a federal expenditure. Therefore, the amount
of the in-kind contribution is $600. (20% of $3,000 equals total
cost of poll in connection with federal election).

Because the State Committee's treasury contains corporate
and union funds, its payment of the poll is a violation of
2 U.S.C. § 441b which prohibits corporate contributions in
connection with federal elections. The $600 in-kind contribution

places both the State and the Federal Committees in violation of
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2 U.S.C. § 441b and 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(b). The Congressional
Committee's failure to report receipt of the in-kind contribution
places it in violation of 2 U.S.C. § 434 (b) (3) and 11 C.F.R.

5§ 104.13.

Because only $600 of the questioned expenditures are
coneidered to have bean made in connecticna with a federal
eiection, the $1,000 threshold triggering registration and
reporting by the State Committee has not been met. Therefore,
recommend no probaile cause that the State Committee violatéd
2RUGSHICH SIva'33N o §.59434%

III. Recommendations

It is recommended that the Commission find:

Probable cause to believe that the Bosco for Congress

Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 434 (b)(2) and 11 C.F.R.

s 104.13.

Probable cause to believe that the Bosco for Congress
Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b and 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(b).

Probable cause to believe that the Committee to Elect
Douglas H. Bosco violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b and 11 C.F.R.
§ 114.2(b).

No probable cause to believe that the Committee to Elect
Douglas H. Bosco violated 2 U.S.C. § 433.

No probable cause to believe that the Committee to Elect
Douglas H. Bosco violated 2 U.S.C. § 434. -

o — =,
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Charles-1i; Steele ~
General Counsel




LAW OFFICES OF

CLEMENT. FITZPATRICK 8 KENWORTHY

INCORPORATED
23233 MENDOCIND AVENUE
POST OFFICE BOX 1494
SANTA ROSA.CALIFORNIA 95402
TELEPHONE (7C7) 822-1181

October 20, 1982

Frank P. Reiche

Federal Election Commission
1325 K Street, N.W. .
washington, D.C. 20463
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Re: MUR 1458

Dear Mr. Reiche:

This letter is in response to your letter of October 4
1982,

117:8¢

(
[}

1. The $526.00 telephone charge:

The Santa Rosa Democratic Club rented the premises
located at 1207 Fourth Street, Santa Rosa, California, on
May 1, 1982. This office was rented to serve as a "United
Democratic Headquarters" for numerous local democratic
candidates to house their literature and campaign materials,
hold meetings, etc. In addition, the space was shared by
the Sonoma County Democratic Central Committee and was also
used as the headquarters for the Bosco for Congress
Commitee.

One of the primary, initial and ongoing uses made of
the premises was to conduct a county-wide voter registration
drive under the auspices of the Sonoma County Democratic
Central Committee. The coordinator of this drive was housed
in these premises. Assemblyman Bosco's state committee paid
the sum in question of $526.00 for the initial installation
of two telephone lines to this office. This sum was
allocated by that Committee entirely to the county voter
registration drive.

In fact, the registration drive conducted intensively
from this office began in May 1982 immediately following the
installation of this telephone service and continued through
October 1982. The telephones were answered initially with
the salutation: "voter registration”; and later "Democratic
Headquarters®”. At no time have any of the phones into this
office been answered with any salutation identifying Doug




Federal Election Commission

October 20, 1982
MUR 1458

Bosco or the Bosco for Congress Committee. This $526.00
payment was the only payment made by or on behalf of the
registration drive for the use of the telephones for the
entire six-month period, even though the actual expense

attributable to their use of the phones was greater.

Numerous additional lines were installed at the expense
of the Bosco for Congress Committee and all subsequent and
other installation and telephone usage charges were paid for
and reported by that committee. You will note that the
Bosco for Congress Committee reports for the period
beginning less than 20 days following the installation of
the lines in question, show expenditures for telephone
service at these premises in excess of $3,400.00.

No part of the $526.00 reported on Assemblyman Bosco's
state report for the telephone service was allocated to the
Bosco for Congress Committee. It was entirely allocated to
the use of the Democratic Central Committee in connection
with its voter registration drive. The actual value of the
telephone useage in connection with the voter registration
drive probably substantially exceeded that initial $526.

Under the circumstances it is submitted that the
allocation of that expense totally to the voter registration
drive is more than reasonable, and that the subsequent
reporting of nearly $3500 in telephone charges by the Bosco
for Congress Committee for the same period completely and
adequately reports all telephonic expenses allocable and
attributable to the federal congressional campaign.

In response to your inquiry concerning allocation of
the operating expenditures for the shared headquarters,
there has been and is no formal allocation other than the
initial telephone installation as outlined above, and the
Bosco for Congress Committee has paid and reported 100% of
the utilities, telephones, etc. If you wish further
documentation or evidence of the actual usage of these
premises by the other committees and groups, please let me
know in what form you wish the evidence and we will attempt
to provide it.

2. The poll:
A copy of the poll in question is enclosed.

It has been a number of years since the taking of a
prior poll in which Mr. Bosco was involved and we have been




Federal Election Commission

October 20, 1982
MUR 1458

unable yet to locate a copy of previous poll questions. We
are also attempting to locate copies of other polls
conducted by other public officials and if we are able to
locate them we will be happy to provide you with copies.

The poll in question was conducted on February 22, 23
and 24, 1982 at a time when it was Mr. Bosco's intent not to
run for congress regardless of the results of the poll. 1It
was conducted only in the County of Sonoma. The poll was
designed, supervised and analyzed by the public opinion
research group, Fairbanks, Canapary and Maullin as indicated
in the reports. They were paid $3,000.00.

The actual taking of the poll was done entirely by
volunteer workers.

Upon my review of this poll I would probably have to
concede that a portion of it could be considered a
preliminary test of Mr. Bosco's popularity and name
recognition. However, of the approximately 50 responses
called for in the poll, only about 10 may arguably be
designed to 'test the waters' as a preliminary to Mr.
Bosco's congressional candidacy. The remainder of the
"qguestions are legitimate inquiries in connection with
Assemblyman Bosco's official responsibility to his
constituency.

To the extent that this poll should have been reported,
the reporting requirements were both overlooked and
misunderstood. It should be taken into account, in
mitigation, that no attempt has been made to hide anything
and that the full cost of the poll was reported in a public
document in connection with Assemblyman Bosco's state
committee.

I would be very much interested in the commission's
specific views and comments, after an opportunity has been
had to review the enclosed copy of the poll, regarding the
possibility of resolving this matter through conciliation
proceedings. In particular, I would ask that you consider
the reasonableness of allocating 20% of the poll expense as
a campaign activity.

3. Travel and lodging:

In connection with the allegations relating to travel
and lodging expenses, the explanation set forth in the




Federal Election Commission

October 20, 1982
MUR 1458

initial response of August 26, 1982, is accurate. I have
enclosed copies of a complete itinerary of Mr. Bosco's
appearances and travel for the first six months of 1982
showing dates, places, people, purpose, etc. This
itinerary shows that the expenditures made during-that
period were consistently in connection with Bosco's normal
activity as a California Assemblyman.

Prior reports of his state committee also show similar
travel expenditures, none of which are related to the
federal congressional campaign except to the natural
unavoidable and incidental extent that any contact or
appearance made by the Assemblyman may tend to increase his
name recognition. That however is not enough to require the
reporting of the expenses incurred in connection with Mr.
Bosco's normal activities as a state legislator. Federal
regulations specifically exclude incidental contacts from
the definition of 'campaign-related activities'. 11 CFR
Section 106.3(b) (3).

4. Sharon Usher:

Sharon Usher functions as Mr. Bosco's campaign manager.
As such she has charge of all of the many duties relating to
that responsibility including recruiting and supervising
volunteer workers, campaign advertising, press and other
media relations and coverage, planning and supervising
precinct work, etc.

Please don't hesitate to contact me if I may be of any
further assistance in resolving this matter. Thank you very much
for your courtesy and patience.

Sincerel

NDALL KENWORTH?
e

KRR:ebw

cc: Doug Bosco
Sharon Usher :
Clayton Clement
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DOUGLAS H. BOSCO - 1982

ITINERARY

Jan. 1 '82 - Jan. 2, '82 SF to San Diego & return re:
Meeting on Bazaar del Mundo - Caucus Busines
PSA Airlines - $138 Fare

Speaker's Dinner - SF Imperial Palace -
(travelled by car)

Travel to Ukiah - Guest Speaker -
Demo Cty. Central Committee - to speak
on Pesticices - travelled by car

Meeting with Mencocino Realtors (Breakfast)
re legislation affecting realtors (by car)

appear on KIEm Channel 3 in Eureka
2 p.m. re: PGSE (by car - Sharon Usher
ravelled with him) - also other media

9 2.m. Meet with Kumboldt League of Woren
Voters - Cook KEouse Samoa - Hurmboldt Cty.
(by car) Also cther district appts.

evening - Cuest speakxer - No. Ca. Loggers
2ssn.

4

Guest Sceakxer - Sarnta Rosa Demo Club
evening dinner - Santa Rosa (by car)

N 40

Meet w/No. Coast Grape Growers -
Geyserville (by car - Sharon Usher
was in attendance) a.m. meeting

4
J

3

Evening - Legislators Night Rounctable
No. Coast Bldrs. Exchange - Santa Rosa
(by car)

Guest Speeker - Crescent City Jaycees
Man/Ycung Man of Year Awards Bangquet -
(by car -

Meet with Crescent City Councilman -
Michael J. Scevuzzo - Crescent City (by-car)

Feb. 13 To attend Crab Feed hosted by Operating
Engineers - in Eureka (by car)

Feb.'Lj Placerville hearing on Helms Project (}

Feb. 19 - 20 San Diego hearing on Helms Project (AjS
Flight -PSA - Nick Tibbetts attended’

Feb. 20 tend 17'\./(;'111-\:.;; - Dcpt. of Forestry Refiremer




Eureka hearing on PG&E (by car - Nick
Tibbetts attended)

- - -

Meet with Dick Buxton & Mickey Luchoff
Bankers' Club in SF re: AB 2271 - Continental
2irline bill (by car) LUNCHEON

Evening - Dinner Honoring Bob Trowbridge
SENTA ROSA - (by car)

C.0.A.A.S.T.'s ~nnual Banguet -Evening
Santa Rosa - (by car)

Evening dinner - hecsted by Bud Harwood
henoring Mayor Bradley - Red lLion Inn -Eureka
(Mitch attenced) (by car)

San Jose PG&Z Hearing

Meeting in UXxiah with Bd. of Supervisors
- Senator Keene and DHB (by car)
Also meeting with constituents in Ukiah

Santa Rosa PG&E Hearing (by car)

Cuest Szeezker - Healcésburg Appreciation Dinner
(by car) Evening '

Dinner - Awards Night by Ca. Euman
Development Corp. Santa Rosa Vets Bldg.

(by car)

Select Committee on Utility Performance
Rates & Regulation hearing in FRESNO
(Nick Tibbetts in attencdance) (by car)

Dinner - SONOMA COUNTY ALLIANCE - Santa Rosa
Los Robles Lodce (by car)

Dinner w/Ca. Bankers Assn. - Speaker Brown
in attendance (by car) - SAN FRANCISCO Imperi=l
Palace

Luncheon Guest Speaker - Ca. Cable TV -
SANTA RCSA (by car)

5 - 7 (Easter Week) Washington, D.C. - To meet with member of
the Federal Energy Commission to dicuss fede. 1
regulations affecting utilities in Californi

(AIR FLIGHT ROUND TRIP) (Nick Tibbetts atte 3ed)
(Stayed@ at Hyatt Regency) 69
Bumboldt Fishermen's Marketing Assn. Dinn -




Douglas H. Bosco

april 17 Sierra Club Round Tzble - SANTA ROSA JR. COLLEGE
Sat. (Sharon Usher zttended) (by car)

April 18 ' Blessing of the Fleet - Bodega Bay 11 a.m.
Suncay o,
Evening - Air Flight to from SF to LA
to attend dinner at home of Jerry & Jane Weintraud
(special guest - Vice President Walter Mondale
(Stayed at Shereaton Hotel near LA Airport)

22 Meet with 2Zpple Grcwers - SEBASTOPOL (by car)

25 thru April 28 WASHINGTON, D.C. Meet with California
Gelegation ard interest croups on lecislative
business - UNITED AIRLINES ROUND TRIP

(Steyed at Skyline Inn Hotel

Meet with Peuline Gocdcard, CTA Bldg. - SANTA ROSA

sociation Dinner

Gue
[ in Zureka Inn

A
a

st Speeker - Ca<tlemen's
COTIA INN - IURIXA (stay
(by car)

e

10:30 a.m. Triplicate Interview - Crescent City
(by car)

_SVENING - GUES

i ~KER - Ca. Trucking Zssn.
McKinleyv ‘

S
ille - (by car)

lie
& 11, 1982 WASHINGTON, D.C. (Stayed at Hyatt Regency Hotel
with ;He Cepartment of the Interior

iembers of Ccngress relative to offshore
ROUND ZRIP AIR FLIGHT - UNITED AIRLINES

7 p.m. Chairman cf Select Cocmmittee on
Utility Perforrarnce, Rates & Regulation hearing
State Capitol x
UXI*H (by car) tc reet with Univ. Women of Uki 2
Lunchecn - Ccach House (also met with Ukiah
Reéwood Lecal r~ssistance - Doug HEarris

4 - 4:30 Returned to Santa Rosa for KSRO Rz io
interview (by car)

SANTA ROSA JACEES ROSE PRARADE - SANTA ROS .
10 a.m. f77




Douglas H. Bosco

Potluck Dinner - SCNOMA VALLEY DEMO CLUB
SONCMA - SPEXXER (Mike Xoepf will attend)

SAN FRANCISCO (by car - with Nick
TO ATTZIND PUC MEZETING

9:30 a.m.
Tibbetts)

(hfternoon - Press interviews per Sharon in
Santa Rosa)

MENDOCINO COLLEZIGE "Yeung Farmers' Chapter"

Barbecue - 5:30 p.m. YOKAYO RANCH COLLEGE SITE
(by car) (steved in Guerneville en route to
Fureka)

UNCEZON - RSVP? =EC CVITIOV RETIQ-D SENIORS
VOLUNTZER FROGR=M
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llo, I'm v with FCi Resecarch. VWe're concducting a public opinion
vvey zmong registered voters in Sonoma County on issues facing our county
. Hhre you a registered voter? (IF NOT REGISTERED, ASK IF SOMEONE ELSE
USEEOLD TS ?EGISTERED TO VOTE AND ATTEMPT TO INTERVIEW HIM/HER: OTHER-
TERMINATE.

cey

v 110

SE),)
~bout how long have you lived
in Scnoma County?-- -

16 OR MORE YEARS
BORN/RAISED HERE

7

Zow T would like to read to you a list of names of some pecple who are
active in pudblic life. For each you have heard of, please tell me if
wcu have zn overall favorzdble or unfavorable opinion? (RZAD LIST)
HEARD OF BUT
NEVER . UN- MIXED DON'T ENOW
HEARD OF FAVORABLE FAVORAELE OPINIONS ENCUGH ABOUT

ACRNALD REAGAN © ¥ ' 2 4

ALEN CRANSTON -t nl 4

DON CLAUSEN
DouUG BOSCO

WILLIE ERCWN JR. -

ERTIAN KAHN

ERIC KOENIGSHOFER

Do vou favor strongly, favor somewvhat or oppose...(ASK FOR EACH)

FAVOR FAYOR MIXED DON'T

. STRONGLY SOMEWHAT " OPPOSE OPINIONS KNOW

the international nuclear
weapons freeze i el L 20, 38 4

President Reagan's large
increase in defense spending 1

aéditional cuts in
social programs o

banning abortions

Cvcrall, how would you rate President Reagan's handling of... (READ LIST

ASK FOR EACH) ; DON'T
EXCELLENT GOOD FAIR POOR KNOW

a. : ' 1 ) 3 AN =

b.
c.
 Jf
.
£
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?Lh of the f0110n1ng groups, please tell me whether you think
ient Reagan's econcmic program will be fair and equitazdle, or
e 1n{a1r eand cause hardships, or will go too easy on ...

- (DO NOT READ)-

TOO MIXED DON'T
FAIR UNFAIR EASY OPINIONS XNOW

TEE ELDERLY AND THOSE ON
PENSIONS

£1G EUSINESS

11GH INCOME PEOPLE

. PECFLE LIKE YOU AND YOUR
CEAMILY

Wwould you describe President VERN EFHECIHINE

Reeyen's ¢conomic program to SCHMEWHAT EFFECTIVE

czte 2s being... NOT VERY EFFECTIVE

casem BIST) . NOT._AT ALY, EEEEGEEVEC .. 4
DONTT KNOW

mazppen to Xnow the (DO XNOT READ LIST)
vour United States DON CLAUSEN
BARRY KEENE
DOUG BOSCO

(As you mentioned) Don Clausen is
vour Congressman. Whet type of
jcdb do you feel he is doing?
(Rz:D LIST)

+cu hezppen to knew the name - (DO NOT READ LIST)-
vour State Assemblyman? DOUG BOSCO

DON SEEBASTIANI

WILLIAM FILANTE

Doug Bosco represents a portion
of Sonoma County in the State
Asseinbly. What type of job do
you {fcel he is doing?

(READ LIST)
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As vou know, this is an celection year. If the general election for
HiS Congress were belng held today, for whom would you vote if the
ceandigantes were... - (READ NAMES, TITLE AND PARTY - ROTATE START)

DON CLAUSEN, U.S. CONGRESSMAN, REPUBLICAN

DOUG BOSCO, CALIFORNIA STATE ASSEMBLYMAN, DEMOCRAT..

NEITHER
DON'T KNOW

Let me give .you some additional information. v

Congressmen Clausen, the 61 year old Crescent City Republican, is a

20 vear incumbent. He is the senior member of the California
Ccngressicnal delegation. He is the ranking Republican meinber on

the House of Representatives Committee on Interior and Insuler Affairs.
Congressman Clausen, a member of the Public Works Committee, is an
erlcnt supporter of President Rezgean's economlic recovery program.

State Asscmblyman Docug Bosco,; the '35 year old Assemblyman from
Cccidental, is a 4 year incumbent. He is the Chairman of the Asscmbly
Selcct Coinmittee on Utility Performence, Rates and Regulation. HKe is
currently leading a state-wide effort to bring utility rates under .
control. He also is a member of the Assembly Finance, Iasurance and
Commecrce Committee, the Natural Resources and Energy Committee and

the pcwerful Ways § Means Committee.

Given this additional information, if the election were held todcy,
for whom would you vote?

DON CLAUSEN, U.S. CONGRESSMAN, REPUBLICAN
DOUG BOSCO, CALIFORNIA STATE ASSEMBLYMAN, DENOCRAT

- NEITHER
DON'T KNOW
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‘culd you vete if the cendidates were...

CLAbSEW, 5 o INGRESSMANG  RERBB I GENG o ot Eeg-re fomeh g 00 me 5D 1
Yy KEERNE, CALIFORNIA STATE SEMNATOR, LZTOCRAT

cu1d you vote 1f the candidates were...

[ON CLZUSEN, U.S. CONGRESSMAN, REPUBLICAN.....................
' (34N, FCRMER COUNTY SUPERVISOR, DEMOCRAT

would you vote if the cazndidates were...

DON CLAUSEN, U.S. CONGRESSMAN, REPUBLICAN
fQ}p KO:NICSHO}ER FORMER COUNTY SUPERVISOR,

Al

Yewt, if you kmew very little sbout the cendicdate running
Cciigress, would you be more Jlkely or less 111ely to vote for someone..

i3, s 1 T
i *7 5 ST) JMORE £SS  MaKES NO DON'T
who is actively SUPFOried kLLELY LI!ELY DL EIGE Ay

Ly President Renald Reagan = ; -

vho is actively supported by

who i1s actively supported by
eI Scnator Ted Yennedy

, for each of the following statements, please tell me whether you
aprce stirongly, zgrce somewhat, or disagree...
AGREE AGREE DON'T
STRONGLY SOMEWHAT DISAGREE KNOW

a. I would not vote for iy Congress-
~an if I knew he had voted for
3cg1>] tion which helped cause
the incrcases in my vtility bills

Wwe need to lccp Republlcans in
Congress to support President
Reagan's continuved efforts in

getting his policies adopted.

I would be more likely to vote for
someone who is leading the fight
against PG&E and slyroclet:ng
utility bills

The 20 ycar incunbent Congressian
SNGS rot demonstrated that he is
o elfcatiive = representative
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following houschold bills, which one is the most painful for
~zy? (READ LIST)

HOUSE PAYMENT/RENT
PROPERTY TAX
GROCERIES

you feel is to blezme for the higher utlllty rates? (READ L1ST)

PUC (Public Utilities Commission.
STATE ‘EGISLATURE

GOVERNOR

CCCRESS

CONSUMER

OTHER (Specifiy)

DON'T KNOW

vcu censider yourself better off,
772y than you were iwo years ago?

BETTER OFF
ABOUT THE SAME
WORSE COFF
DON'T XKNOW

Do you feel that next ycer at this time you will be better off, zbout
the szne, or worse off thzn you are today?

CRUL BESBETIEREOER
\ILL BE ABOUT THE SAME
WILL BE WORSE OFF-
DON'T KRNOW

wret was the last level or grade GRADES 1-8

vou ccrpleted in school? GRADES 9-11
GRADUATED HIGH SCHOOL
SOME COLLEGE
4 YEARS COLLEGE (GRADUATE)
POST GRADUATE/PROFESSIONAL

1958 OR LATER (24 § YOUNGER)...
1947 -- 1957 (25-35)

1932 - 1946 (36-50)

1918 - 1931 (51-64)

1917 § UNDER (65 & OLDER)
REFUSED

DEAOCRATIC
REPUBLICAN

PRECINCT NUMEBER:
PHONE “U!BER:
WERTEIED:




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINCTON D C 203365

December 8, 1982

K. Randall Kenworthy, Esqguire
Clement, Fitzpatrick and Kenworthyv
3333 Mendocino Avenue

P.O. Box 1494

Santa Rosa, California 95402

RE: MUR 1458

Dear Mr. Kenworthy:

Based on a complaint filed with the Commission on August 5,
1982, and information supplied by you, the Commission determined
on September 29, 1982, that there was reason to believe that:
the Bosco for Cocngress Committee and its treasurer, Clayton
Clement, have violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(b) (3) and 11 C.F.R.

§ 104.13; the Bosco for Congress Committee and its treasurer,
Clayton Clement, violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b and 11 C.F.R.

5§ 114.2(b); the Committee to Elect Douglas H. Bosco and its
trezsurer, Sheron Usher, wiclated 2 U.S.C. '§ 441b znd 11 CLF.R.
§ 114.2(b); and the Committee to Elect Douglas H. Bosco and its
treasurer, Sharon Usher, violated 2 U.S.C. §§ 433a and 434,
provisions of the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as
amended ("the Act"), and instituted an investigation of this
matter.

After considering all the evidence available to the
Commission, the Office of General Counsel is prepared to
recommend that the Commission find:

11 Probable cause to believe that the Bosco for Congress
Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(b) (3) and 11 C.F.R.
§ 104.13.

Probable cause to believe that the Bosco for Congress
Committee violated 2 U.S.C. § 441b and 11 C.F.R. § 114.2(b).

Probable cause to believe that the Committee to Elect
Douglas H. Boscc viclated 2 U.S.C. § 441b and 11 C.F.R.
s 114.2(b).
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Letter to K. Randall Kenworthy, Esquire
Page 2

No probable cause to believe that the Committee to Elect
Douglas H. Bosco violated 2 U.S.C. § 433.

No probable cause to believe that the Committee to Elect
Douglas H. Bosco violated 2 U.S.C. § 434.

Submitted for your review is a brief statinc the position of
the General Counsel on the legal and factuzl issues of the case.
Within' [fisfitean days of your receipt ¢f thit notice, you may. file
with the Secretary of the Commission & brief (ten copies if
possible) stating your position on the issues and replying to the
brief of the General Counsel. (Three copies of such brief should
also be forwarded to the Office of Generzl Counsel, if possible).
The General Counsel's brief and any brief which you may submit
will be conhsicered by the Commicssion Defcre proceeding tc & vots

of probable cause to believe a violation has occurred.

If you are unable to file a responsive brief within fifteen
days, you may submit a written request to the Commission for an
extension of time in which to file a brief. The Commission will
nct grant any extensions beyond twenty deys.

A finding cf prcbable cause to believe recguires that the
Cffice of General Counsel attempt for a p=2ricd of not less than
thlzty, but not more than nlnetv days to settle this matter

-4 -v‘_v.ﬂl =3 a

Shculd you have any questions, please ccntact Suzanne
Callahan at (202) 523-4529.

‘Gﬁréral Counsel

Encicsure
Brief




Frank P. Reiche
Federal Election Commission

1325

Washington, D.C. 20463

Dear

1982,

Ccc # 875/

LAW OFFICES OF

CLEMENT. FITZPATRICK & KENWORTHY
INCORPORATED
3333 MENDOCINO AVENUE
POST OFFICE BOX 1494

SANTA ROSA, CALIFORNIA 95402
TELEPHONE (707) 523-181

October 20, 1982

K Street, N.W.

¢l 182130 28

Re: MUR 1458

Mr. Reiche:

8¢

This letter is in response to your letter of October 4,

g1

1. The $526.00 telephone charge:

The Santa Rosa Democratic Club rented the premises
located at 1207 Pourth Street, Santa Rosa, California, on
May 1, 1982. This office was rented to serve as a "United
Democratic Headquarters" for numerous local democratic
candidates to house their literature and campaign materials,
hold meetings, etc. 1In addition, the space was shared by
the Sonoma County Democratic Central Committee and was also
used as the headquarters for the Bosco for Congress
Commitee.

One of the primary, initial and ongoing uses made of
the premises was to conduct a county-wide voter registration
drive under the auspices of the Sonoma County Democratic
Central Committee. The coordinator of this drive was housed
in these premises. Assemblyman Bosco's state committee paid
the sum in question of $526.00 for the initial installation
of two telephone lines to this office. This sum was
allocated by that Committee entirely to the county voter
registration drive.

In fact, the registration drive conducted intensively
from this office began in May 1982 immediately following the
installation of this telephone service and continued through
October 1982. The telephones were answered initially with
the salutation: "voter registration®"; and later "Democratic
Headquarters®™. At no time have any of the phones into this
office been answered with any salutation identifying Doug




Federal Election Commission
October 20, 1982
MUR 1458

Bosco or the Bosco for Congress Committee. This $526.00
payment was the only payment made by or on behalf of the
registration drive for the use of the telephones for the
entire six-month period, even though the actual expense
attributable to their use of the phones was greater.

Numerous additional lines were installed at the expense
of the Bosco for Congress Committee and all subsequent and
other installation and telephone usage charges were paid for
and reported by that committee. You will note that the
Bosco for Congress Committee reports for the period
beginning less than 20 days following the installation of
the lines in question, show expenditures for telephone
service at these premises in excess of $3,400.00.

No part of the $526.00 reported on Assemblyman Bosco's
state report for the telephone service was allocated to the
Bosco for Congress Committee. It was entirely allocated to
the use of the Democratic Central Committee in connection
with its voter registration drive. The actual value of the
telephone useage in connection with the voter registration
drive probably substantially exceeded that initial $526.

Under the circumstances it is submitted that the
allocation of that expense totally to the voter registration
drive is more than reasonable, and that the subsequent
reporting of nearly $3500 in telephone charges by the Bosco
for Congress Committee for the same period completely and
adequately reports all telephonic expenses allocable and
attributable to the federal congressional campaign.

In response to your inquiry concerning allocation of
the operating expenditures for the shared headquarters,
there has been and is no formal allocation other than the
initial telephone installation as outlined above, and the
Bosco for Congress Committee has paid and reported 100% of
the utilities, telephones, etc. If you wish further
documentation or evidence of the actual usage of these
premises by the other committees and groups, please let me
know in what form you wish the evidence and we will attempt
to provide it.

2. The poll:
A copy of the poll in question is enclosed.

It has been a number of years since the taking of a
prior poll in which Mr. Bosco was involved and we have been
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unable yet to locate a copy of previous poll questions. We
are also attempting to locate copies of other polls
conducted by other public officials and if we are able to
locate them we will be happy to provide you with copies.

The poll in question was conducted on Pebruary 22, 23
and 24, 1982 at a time when it was Mr. Bosco's intent not to
run for congress regardless of the results of the poll. It
was conducted only in the County of Sonoma. The poll was
designed, supervised and analyzed by the public opinion
research group, PFairbanks, Canapary and Maullin as indicated
in the reports. They were paid $3,000.00.

The actual taking of the poll was done entirely by
volunteer workers.

Upon my review of this poll I would probably have to
concede that a portion of it could be considered a
preliminary test of Mr. Bosco's popularity and name
recognition. However, of the approximately 50 responses
called for in the poll, only about 10 may arguably be
designed to 'test the waters' as a preliminary to Mr.
Bosco's congressional candidacy. The remainder of the
questions are legitimate inquiries in connection with
Assemblyman Bosco's official responsibility to his
constituency.

To the extent that this poll should have been reported,
the reporting requirements were both overlooked and
misunderstood. It should be taken into account, in
mitigation, that no attempt has been made to hide anything
and that the full cost of the poll was reported in a public
document in connection with Assemblyman Bosco's state
committee.

I would be very much interested in the commission's
specific views and comments, after an opportunity has been
had to review the enclosed copy of the poll, regarding the
possibility of resolving this matter through conciliation
proceedings. In particular, I would ask that you consider
the reasonableness of allocating 20% of the poll expense as
a campaign activity.

3. Travel and lodging:

In connection with the allegations relating to travel
and lodging expenses, the explanation set forth in the
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initial response of August 26, 1982, is accurate. I have
enclosed copies of a complete itinerary of Mr. Bosco's
appearances and travel for the first six months of 1982
showing dates, places, people, purpose, etc. This
itinerary shows that the expenditures made during that
period were consistently in connection with Bosco's normal
activity as a California Assemblyman.

Prior reports of his state committee also show similar
travel expenditures, none of which are related to the
federal congressional campaign except to the natural
unavoidable and incidental extent that any contact or
appearance made by the Assemblyman may tend to increase his
name recognition. That however is not enough to require the
reporting of the expenses incurred in connection with Mr.
Bosco's normal activities as a state legislator. Federal
regulations specifically exclude incidental contacts from
the definition of 'campaign-related activities'. 11 CFR
Section 106.3(b) (3).

4. Sharon Usher:

Sharon Usher functions as Mr. Bosco's campaign manager.
As such she has charge of all of the many duties relating to
that responsibility including recruiting and supervising
volunteer workers, campaign advertising, press and other
media relations and coverage, planning and supervising
precinct work, etc.

Please don't hesitate to contact me if I may be of any
further assistance in resolving this matter. Thank you very much
for your courtesy and patience.

Sincerel

KRK: ebw

cc: Doug Bosco
Sharon Usher
Clayton Clement
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DOUGLAS H. BOSCO - 1982

" ITINERARY

Jan. 1 '82 - Jan. 2, '82

Feb. 13

Feb. 17

Feb. 19 - 20

Feb. 20 Attend

SF to San Diego & return re:
Meeting on Bazaar del Mundo - Caucus Business
PSA Airlines - §$138 Fare

Speaker's Dinner - SF Imperial Palace -
(travelled by car)

Travel to Ukiah - Guest Speaker -
Demo Cty. Central Committee - to speak
on Pesticides - travelled by car

Meeting with Mendocino Realtors (Breakfast)
re legislation affecting realtors (by car)

To appear on KIEm Channel 3 in Eureka
at 2 p.m. re: PG&E (by car - Sharon Usher
travelled with him) - also other media

9 a.m. Meet with Humboldt League of Women
Voters - Cook House Samoa - Humboldt Cty.

- (by car) Also other district appts.

evening - Guest speaker - No. Ca. Loggers
Assn.

Guest Speaker - Santa Rosa Demo Club
evening dinner - Santa Rosa (by car)

Meet w/No. Coast Grape Growers -
Geyserville (by car - Sharon Usher
was in attendance) a.m. meeting

Evening - Legislators Night Roundtable
No. Coast Bldrs. Exchange - Santa Rosa
{(by car)

Guest Speaker - Crescent City Jaycees
Man/Young Man of Year Awards Banquet -
(by car -

Meet with Crescent City Councilman -
Michael J. Scavuzzo - Crescent City (by-car)

To attend Crab Feed hosted by Operating
Engineers - in Eureka (by car)

Placerville hearing on Helms Project (by car)

San Diego hearing on Helms Project (Air
Flight -PSA - Nick Tibbetts attended)

Evening - Dept. of Forestry Refirement
Dinner in Santa Rosa for Edward A. Poe




Feb. 23 Eureka hearing on PG&E (by car - Nick
Tibbetts attended)

Meet with Dick Buxton & Mickey Luchoff
Bankers' Club im SF re: AB 2271 - Continental
Airline bill (by car) LUNCHEON

Evening - Dinner Honoring Bob Trowbridge
SANTA ROSA - (by car)

C.0.A.A.S.T.'s Annual Banguet -Evening
Santa Rosa - (by car)

Evening dinner - hosted by Bud Harwood
honoring Mayor Bradley - Red Lion Inn -Eureka
(Mitch attended) (by car)

Mar. 3 San Jose PG&E Hearing

March S Meeting in Ukiah with Bd. of Supervisors
- Senator Keene and DHB (by car)
Also meeting with constituents in Ukiah

March Santa Rosa PG&E Hearing (by car)

March Guest Speaker - Healdsburg Appreciation Dinner
(by car) Evening :

March Dinner - Awards Night by Ca. Human
Development Corp. Santa Rosa Vets Bldg.

(by car)

Select Committee on Utility Performance
Rates & Regulation hearing in FRESNO
(Nick Tibbetts in attendance) (by car)

March Dinner - SONOMA COUNTY ALLIANCE - Santa Rosa
Los Robles Lodge (by car)

April Dinner w/Ca. Bankers Assn. - Speaker Brown
in attendance (by car) - SAN FRANCISCO Imperial
Palace

April Luncheon Guest Speaker - Ca. Cable TV -
SANTA ROSA (by car)

April 5 - 7 (Easter Week) Washington, D.C. - To meet with members of
the Federal Energy Commission to dicuss federal
regulations affecting utilities in California

(AIR FLIGHT ROUND TRIP) (Nick Tibbetts attended)
(Sstayed at Hyatt Regency)

Humboldt Fishermen's Marketing Assn. Dinner-

EUREKA - Keynote Speaker




Douglas H. Bosco

April 17 Sierra Club Round Table - SANTA ROSA JR. COLLEGE
Sat. (Sharon Usher attended) (by car)

April 18 ‘ Blessing of the Fleet - Bodega Bay 11 a.m.
Sunday
Evening - Air Flight to from SF to LA
to attend dinner at home of Jerry & Jane Weintraub -
(special guest - Vice President Walter Mondale
(Stayed at Sheraton Hotel near LA Airport)

22 Meet with Apple Growers - SEBASTOPOL (by car)

25 thru April 28 WASHINGTON, D.C. Meet with California
delegation and interest groups on legislative
business - UNITED AIRLINES ROUND TRIP
(Stayed at Skyline Inn Hotel

Meet with Pauline Goddard, CTA Bldg. - SANTA ROSA
(by car)

McCarthy Fundraiser - Wild Oak Saddle Club
(by car)

Guest Speaker - Cattlemen's Association Dinner
SCOTIA INN - EUREKA (stayed in Eureka Inn
(by car)

10:30 a.m. Triplicate Interview - Crescent City
(by car)

EVENING - GUEST SPEAKER - Ca. Trucking Assn.
McKinleyville - (by car)
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